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COMPLAINT FOR INJUNCTIVE RELIEF AND DAMAGES 

ULTIMATE FITNESS GROUP, LLC D/B/A ORANGETHEORY FITNESS (“Ultimate 

Fitness” or “Plaintiff”) hereby alleges for its complaint against RACHEL FELIX (“Felix”), KYLE 

ANDERSON (“Anderson”), STUDIO 3 FITNESS LAQ 1 LLC (“Studio 3”) and DOES 1-50 

(collectively, “Defendants”) upon personal information as to Plaintiff’s own activities, and upon 

information and belief as to the activities of others, as follows:   

I. PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

1. In 2010, Plaintiff Ultimate Fitness launched Orangetheory Fitness, one of the fastest 

growing and most popular fitness franchises in history.  

2. Ultimate Fitness franchises Orangetheory fitness studios to hundreds of franchisees 

throughout the country and the world.1  

3. Defendant Rachel Felix is a former employee of an Orangetheory franchisee in 

Washington state who subsequently started a competitive fitness studio – Studio 3, located within 

                                           
1 An affiliate of Ultimate Fitness, OTF Studios, LLC, also independently owns and operates 

ORANGETHEORY fitness studios. 
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a few blocks of an ORANGETHEORY franchise location in Seattle.   

4. Kyle Anderson is a former employee of an Orangetheory franchisee and a former 

shareholder of an Orangetheory franchise in Shoreline, Washington who, upon information and 

belief, has an ownership interest in, and works for, Studio 3 with Felix.  

5. Upon information and belief, Defendant Anderson and Defendant Felix – while still 

working for one of Plaintiff’s franchisees – decided to start a competitive fitness business – 

Defendant Studio 3 – and conspired to misappropriate confidential trade secrets of Plaintiff. 

6. Upon information and belief, approximately one week after terminating her 

employment at Plaintiff’s franchisee to start Defendant Studio 3, Defendant Felix, working in 

concert with Defendant Anderson, remotely accessed Plaintiff’s computer systems without 

authorization and stole confidential mailing lists with current and prospective member contact 

information, which upon information and belief, Defendants are using to solicit customers to 

Studio 3. 

7. Defendants’ illegal actions have caused immense damage to Plaintiff’s business 

and the business of Plaintiff’s Washington franchisees.  

8. Plaintiff brings this action to prevent Defendants from causing further damage to 

its business and to recover damages for Defendants unauthorized access of its computer systems 

and misappropriation of its customer lists. 

II. JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

9. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action under 28 U.S.C. 

§ 1332(a) because the matter in controversy exceeds the sum or value of $75,000 and is between 

citizens of different States. 

10. This Court also has subject matter jurisdiction over this action under 28 U.S.C. 

§ 1331 because this matter arises under the Defend Trade Secrets Act, 18 U.S.C. § 1832 et seq. 

11. This Court also has subject matter jurisdiction over this action under 28 U.S.C. 

§ 1331 because this matter arises under the Stored Communications Act, 18 U.S.C. § 2701 et seq. 

12. This Court may exercise supplemental jurisdiction over the state law claims made 
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herein under 28 U.S.C. § 1367 because they are so related to claims in the action within this Court’s 

original jurisdiction that they form part of the same case or controversy under Article III of the 

United States Constitution.  

13. Personal jurisdiction and venue are proper in this Court under Fla. Stat. § 48.193 

and 28 U.S.C. § 1391 because (a) Defendants jointly and severally conspired to commit a tortious 

act within this state and judicial district, (b) Defendants jointly and severally directed their illegal 

activities to this judicial district, and (c) a substantial part of the events giving rise to the claims 

occurred within this judicial district. Personal jurisdiction and venue are additionally proper 

because (a) Anderson agreed to the exclusive jurisdiction of this Court by contract with Plaintiff 

and (b) Anderson breached a contract in this state by failing to perform an act required to be 

performed in this state.  

III. PARTIES 

14. Plaintiff is a Delaware limited liability company and Delaware citizen with its 

principal place of business in Boca Raton, Florida.  

15. Defendant Rachel Felix is a Washington resident and citizen.  

16. Defendant Kyle Anderson is a Washington resident and citizen.  Upon information 

and belief, Felix and Anderson reside at the same address.  

17. Defendant Studio 3 is a Washington limited liability company and citizen because 

at least one of its members is a Washington resident. 

18. Plaintiff is unaware of the true names and capacities of the defendants identified as 

Does 1–50 and therefore sues those defendants under fictitious names. Plaintiff will amend this 

complaint to allege their true names and capacities when ascertained. Each of the fictitiously-

named defendants is responsible for the conduct alleged herein. These fictitiously-named 

defendants, along with the other named defendants, are referred to collectively as “Defendants.” 

19. Each defendant conspired with and aided and abetted the actions of the other 

defendants set forth above, in that each defendant had knowledge of those actions, and provided 

assistance and benefitted from those actions. Each of the defendants was the agent of each of the 
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other defendants, and in doing the things hereinafter alleged, was acting within the course and 

scope of such agency and with the permission and consent of the other defendants. 

IV. STATEMENT OF FACTS 

Plaintiff’s protection of its trade secrets 

20. In 2010, Plaintiff launched an innovative fitness start-up – ORANGETHEORY 

FITNESS – that combines a unique one-hour heart-rate based interval training workout with a 

fresh approach to instructor-led group workouts. 

21. Plaintiff is now one of the fastest growing and most popular fitness franchises in 

history with over 933 locations in 17 countries as of April 2018.  

22. Plaintiff has spent millions of dollars and years of intense effort in acquiring 

members and building its Orangetheory brand.  

23. Among numerous other trade secrets, Plaintiff maintains confidential mailing lists 

of current and prospective members, which it uses to maintain brand engagement and solicit new 

business.   

24. Plaintiff’s mailing lists derive independent economic value for Plaintiff from not 

being generally known to, and not being readily ascertainable by proper means by, others who can 

obtain economic value from their disclosure or use and Plaintiff has taken reasonable measures to 

protect the protect the secrecy of these mailing lists.  

25. These mailing lists are accessible to certain Plaintiff employees, Orangetheory 

franchisees and certain franchisee employees via a password-protected web application.  

26. Plaintiff takes reasonable measures to protect the secrecy of these confidential 

mailing lists.  

27. Plaintiff restricts access to these confidential mailing lists by providing confidential 

login credentials only to those individuals who need to access the lists to conduct business on 

behalf of Plaintiff.  

28. Plaintiff and its Orangetheory franchisees also require their respective employees 

to sign non-disclosure agreements with respect to this and other confidential information. 

Case 0:18-cv-60981-BB   Document 1   Entered on FLSD Docket 05/01/2018   Page 4 of 13



5 

Defendants’ Misappropriation of Plaintiff’s Trade Secrets 

29. Between approximately November 2013 and July 12, 2017, Defendant Felix was 

employed as a fitness trainer and regional leader with an Orangetheory franchisee in Seattle, 

Washington.  

30. During her employment, Defendant Felix was assigned a username and password 

that allowed her to access Plaintiff’s customer and mailing lists to conduct official business on 

behalf of Plaintiff’s franchisee in many Orangetheory Fitness studios.  

31. On or about July 12, 2017, Defendant Felix terminated her employment at the 

Plaintiff’s franchisee in order to start a new fitness company with Defendant Anderson named 

Studio 3, which seeks to compete with Orangetheory and is located within a short walking distance 

of the Orangetheory Fitness studio in which Felix worked.  

32. Upon her resignation, Defendant Felix was aware that her prior authorization to 

access Plaintiff’s customer and mailing lists immediately terminated.  

33. However, subsequent to Felix’s termination – and while Anderson was still an 

owner of, or employed by, another one of Plaintiff’s franchisees – Felix and Anderson conspired 

to misappropriate confidential customer lists from Plaintiff. 

34. On July 19, 2017 and July 26, 2017, after Defendant Felix terminated her 

employment with Plaintiff’s franchisee, Felix used her old Orangetheory login credentials to 

access and, upon information and belief, download, at least three separate mailing lists of Plaintiff 

for the Seattle: Lower Queen Anne, Seattle: Belltown, and Seattle: Capitol Hill Orangetheory 

Fitness locations in Washington state with the contact names, email addresses and phone numbers 

for over 20,000 members and prospective members. Upon information and belief, Anderson 

directed Felix’s actions and conspired with Felix to misappropriate this confidential data. 

35. Plaintiff maintains access logs that record the date its mailing lists are accessed, 

along with the usernames and internet-protocol address used to access the lists. These access logs 

confirmed Defendant Felix’s unauthorized access of Plaintiff’s mailing lists.  

36. Upon information and belief, Defendants used the contact details listed in these 
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mailing lists to contact individuals identified therein and to solicit those individuals to join 

Anderson and Felix’s new competing fitness studio, Defendant Studio 3, located at 229 Queen 

Anne Avenue N, Seattle, Washington, less than one-mile from the Plaintiff’s franchisee located at 

500 Mercer St, Seattle, Washington fitness studio.  

37. Defendants have advertised the Studio 3 fitness studio on at least studio3fit.com, 

Facebook and through email.  

38. Upon information and belief, Defendants’ Studio 3 fitness studio opened for 

business in April 2018. 

Anderson’s non-compete / non-disclosure Agreement 

39. In August 2015, Defendant Anderson signed a confidentiality, non-disclosure and 

non-compete agreement (“Anderson’s NDA”) with Plaintiff that prohibits the use or disclosure of 

Plaintiff's confidential information and trade secrets. Anderson’s NDA specifically identifies “lists 

of actual or potential customers” as Plaintiff’s trade secrets. 

40. Anderson’s NDA also prohibits Anderson during the term of his franchise 

agreement with Plaintiff from (1) having a direct or indirect interest in as an owner, or performing 

services as a director, officer, manager, employee, consultant, representative, agent or otherwise 

for a competitive business wherever located, , and (2) directing any prospective or existing 

business or economic opportunities away from Plaintiff or any of Plaintiff’s franchisees, or their 

respective affiliates to a competitive business wherever located.  

41. Anderson’s NDA contains additional non-compete obligations which continue for 

two years commencing on the earlier of (1) the termination or expiration of Anderson’s franchise 

agreement with Plaintiff or (2) Anderson’s complete disposition of his interest in the franchised 

business and franchisee. These non-compete obligations prohibit Anderson from having a direct 

or indirect interest in as an owner, or performing services as a director, officer, manager, employee, 

consultant, representative, agent or otherwise for a competitive business located at the site of 

Anderson’s franchisee studio, within a 10-mile radius of his franchisee studio and within a 10-mile 

radius of any other franchisee studio that is in operation or under development on the effective 
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date of termination or expiration of Anderson’s franchise agreement or termination of Anderson’s 

interests in the franchisee business.   

42. Anderson's NDA provides for the recovery of attorney's fees to the prevailing party 

in any legal proceeding brought to enforce the agreement.  

43. Anderson’s NDA requires that any legal proceeding brought to enforce its terms be 

brought in Broward County, Florida.  

Felix’s non-disclosure Agreement 

44. In August 2016, Defendant Felix signed a confidentiality and non-disclosure 

agreement with Plaintiff that prohibits, among other things, the unauthorized use or disclosure of 

Plaintiff's confidential information. 

V. FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Violations of the Defend Trade Secrets Act, 18 U.S.C. § 1832 et seq.) 

45. Plaintiff hereby incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 - 44 as though fully set forth 

herein.  

46. At the time of their unauthorized and wrongful access of Plaintiff’s computer 

networks, Defendants were not employees or authorized users of Plaintiff’s computer networks.  

47. Defendants intentionally, without authorization and by improper means conspired 

to and gained access to confidential and sensitive information of Plaintiff stored on a private 

computer network, which at all relevant times operated in and affected interstate and foreign 

commerce and is accordingly considered a protected computer.  

48. Without authorization or permission, Defendant Felix accessed—and upon 

information and belief, downloaded—confidential, proprietary, and sensitive business records, 

including specifically, confidential mailing lists of current and prospective members containing 

sensitive business and personal information, which constitute trade secrets used in interstate or 

foreign commerce under 18 U.S.C. § 1839(3).  

49. Upon information and belief, Defendant Felix undertook these actions personally 

and at the direction of Defendant Anderson, Defendant Studio 3 and the other Defendants – who 
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also approved of and ratified Felix’s actions. 

50. Upon information and belief, Defendants used the trade secrets to contact current 

or prospective members of a Plaintiff-affiliated studio and solicited those individuals to join their 

competitive fitness business, Defendant Studio 3. 

51. Defendants took all such actions knowingly and intentionally and without regard 

for the rights of others.  

52. Defendants knew or should have known that Plaintiff’s mailing lists are valuable, 

confidential trade secrets belonging to Plaintiff. 

53. Defendants therefore knowingly acquired Plaintiff’s trade secrets by improper 

means and knowingly used those trade secrets obtained by improper means. 

54. Defendants conduct constitutes misappropriation of Plaintiff’s trade secrets under 

18 U.S.C. § 1836(b)(1). 

55. Plaintiff has been damaged, and continue to be damaged, by Defendants unlawful 

conduct. 

VI. SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Violations of Florida’s Uniform Trade Secret Act) 

56. Plaintiff hereby incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 - 44 as though fully set forth 

herein.  

57. At the time of their unauthorized and wrongful access of Plaintiff’s computer 

networks, Defendants were not employees or authorized users of Plaintiff’s computer networks.  

58. Defendants intentionally, without authorization and by improper means conspired 

to and gained access to confidential and sensitive information of Plaintiff stored on a private 

computer network.  

59. Without authorization or permission, Defendant Felix accessed—and upon 

information and belief, downloaded—confidential, proprietary, and sensitive business records, 

including specifically, confidential mailing lists of current and prospective members containing 

sensitive business and personal information, which constitute trade secrets under Fla. Stat. § 
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688.002(4).  

60. Upon information and belief, Defendant Felix undertook these actions personally 

and at the direction of Defendant Anderson, Defendant Studio 3 and the other Defendants – who 

also approved of and ratified Felix’s actions. 

61. Upon information and belief, Defendants used the trade secrets to contact current 

or prospective members of a Plaintiff-affiliated studio and solicited those individuals to join their 

competitive fitness business, Defendant Studio 3. 

62. Defendants took all such actions knowingly and intentionally and without regard 

for the rights of others.  

63. Defendants knew or should have known that Plaintiff’s mailing lists are valuable, 

confidential trade secrets belonging to Plaintiff. 

64. Defendants therefore knowingly acquired Plaintiff’s trade secrets by improper 

means and knowingly used those trade secrets obtained by improper means. 

65. Defendants conduct constitutes misappropriation of Plaintiff’s trade secrets under 

Fla. Stat. § 688.001, et seq. 

66. Plaintiff has been damaged, and continue to be damaged, by Defendants unlawful 

conduct. 

VII. THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Violations of the Stored Communications Act, 18 U.S.C. § 2701 et seq.) 

67. Plaintiff hereby incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 - 44 as though fully set forth 

herein. 

68. Defendants are not employees or authorized users of Plaintiff’s computer networks.  

69. Defendant Felix intentionally and without authorization gained access to 

confidential and sensitive information stored on electronic communication services used by 

Plaintiff, which at all relevant times operated in and affected interstate and foreign commerce and 

is accordingly considered a protected computer.  

70. Without authorization or permission, Defendant Felix accessed – and upon 
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information and belief, copied – confidential, proprietary, and sensitive business records, including 

specifically, confidential mailing lists of current and prospective members containing sensitive 

business and personal information.  

71. Defendant Felix took all such actions knowingly and intentionally and without 

regard for the rights of others.  

72. Upon information and belief, Defendant Felix undertook these actions personally 

and at the direction of Defendant Anderson, Defendant Studio 3 and the other Defendants – who 

also approved of and ratified Felix’s actions. 

73. Defendants’ conduct constitutes unlawful access to a stored communication under 

18 U.S.C. §2701. 

74. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ unlawful and improper conduct, 

Plaintiff has suffered damages during the period between July 2017 and the present, and continuing 

thereafter.  

75. Plaintiff alleges that punitive and exemplary damages are appropriate because 

Defendants’ actions were knowing and willful and in conscious disregard of Plaintiff’s rights.  

76. Under 18 U.S.C. § 2707(c), Plaintiff also seeks its attorney’s fees associated with 

the investigation and prosecution of this action. 

VIII. FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

 (Intentional Interference with Contractual Relationships) 

77. Plaintiff hereby incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 - 44 as though fully set forth 

herein.  

78. Plaintiff, through its franchisees, maintains numerous contractual relationships with 

franchisee members.  

79. Defendants knew about these contractual relationships via their previous 

employment with Plaintiff’s franchisees.  

80. Defendants intentionally interfered with these contractual relationships by 

improper means, namely unlawful computer access in violation of multiple state and federal 
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statutes and use of unlawfully obtained confidential mailing lists which Defendants used to solicit 

Plaintiff-affiliated members for Defendant Studio 3.  

81. Defendants’ intentional interference caused and continues to cause damage to 

Plaintiff. 

IX. FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Intentional Interference with Business Expectancy) 

82.  Plaintiff hereby incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 - 44 as though fully set 

forth herein.  

83. Plaintiff, on its own and through its franchisees, continuously sign up new members 

and obtain new contracts, all of which constitute valid business expectancies.  

84. Defendants knew about these business expectancies via their previous employment 

with Plaintiff’s franchisees.  

85. Defendants intentionally interfered with Plaintiff’s business expectancies by 

improper means, namely unlawful computer access in violation of multiple state and federal 

statutes and use of unlawfully obtained confidential mailing lists which Defendants used to solicit 

Plaintiff-affiliated members and prospective members for Defendant Studio 3. 

86. Defendants’ intentional interference caused and continues to cause damage to 

Plaintiff. 

X. SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Breach of Contract by Anderson) 

87. Plaintiff hereby incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 - 44 as though fully set forth 

herein.  

88. Anderson’s NDA with Plaintiff is a valid and binding contract. 

89. Defendant Anderson committed a material breach of that contract by (1) 

misappropriating, disclosing and using Plaintiff’s confidential information and trade secrets in 

connection with a competitive business; (2) having an ownership interest in and working for a 

competitive business in violation of his non-compete restrictions; and (3) directing business 
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opportunities away from Plaintiff or Plaintiff’s franchisees. 

90. Plaintiff has been damaged by Anderson’s breach of contract. 

XI. SEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Breach of Contract by Felix) 

91. Plaintiff hereby incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 – 44 as though fully set 

forth herein.  

92. Defendant Felix’s confidentiality and non-disclosure agreement with Plaintiff is a 

valid contract.  

93. Defendant Felix committed a material breach of that contract by misappropriating, 

disclosing and using Plaintiff’s confidential information and trade secrets in connection with a 

competitive business.  

94. Plaintiff has been damaged by Felix’s breach of contract. 

REQUEST FOR RELIEF 

Plaintiff respectfully requests the following relief jointly and severally against 

Defendants: 

1. Preliminary and permanent injunctive relief; 

2. General damages to be proved at trial; 

3. Special damages to be proved at trial; 

4. Interest thereon; 

5. Exemplary or punitive damages;  

6. Attorneys’ fees and associated costs of suit; and 

7. Such other and further relief as the Court deems just and proper. 

 

Dated: May 1, 2018   Respectfully submitted,  

PERETZ CHESAL & HERRMANN, P.L. 

Counsel for Plaintiff 

      2 S. Biscayne Blvd., Suite 3700 

      Miami, Florida 33131 

      Tel: 305-341-3000 
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      Fax: 305-371-6807 

 

By: /s/ Steven I. Peretz   

Steven I. Peretz 

speretz@pch-iplaw.com 

Fla. Bar. No. 329037 

Josh E. Saltz 

jsaltz@pch-iplaw.com 

Fla. Bar. No. 70521 
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